STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

RECEIVED

MAY 01 2019

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Circuit Court Case No. 2017CT33

Appeal No. 2019AP000523 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN

Plaintiff-Respondent

-VS-

SHANNON G. POTOCNIK

Defendant – Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM TAYLOR COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, BRANCH I, THE HONORABLE ANN KNOX BAUER, PRESIDING,

DENYING THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S MOTIONS TO SUPPRESS

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

SHANNON G. POTOCNIK. Defendant-Appellant

By: SHANNON G. POTOCNIK

STATEMENT OF CASE
STATEMENT OF FACTS
STANDARD OF REVIEW
ARGUMENT
I. LAW ENFORCEMENT ENTERED THE CURTILAGE OF AND HOME OF MR. POTOCNIK WITHOUT A SEARCH WARRANT AND WITH NO EVIDENCE THAT A CRIME HAD BEEN COMMITTED, CONTRARY TO THE U.S. AND WISCONSIN CONSITUTIONS AND COMMON LAW.
II. LAW ENFORCEMENT SEIZED THE DEFENDANT'S BLOOD WITHOUT A SEARCH WARRANT AND CONTRARY TO THE U.S. AND WISCONSIN CONSTIUTIONS AND COMMON LAW.
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATION

Ŷ

TABLE OF AUTHORTIES

State v. Davis,
333 Wis.2d 490, 798 N.W.2d 696 (2011)
<u>Florida v. Jardines</u> ,
569 U.S. 1 (2013)
State v. Hinz,
121 Wis.2d 282, 360 N.W.2d 56 (1984)
State v. Larson,
2003 WI App, 150, 266 Wis.2d 236, 668 N.W.2d 338 13
Missouri v. McNeely,
569 U.S. 141 (2013)
State v. Patricia A.P.,
191 Wis.2d 855, 537 N.W.2d 47 (1995)
Payton v. New York,
445 U.S. 573 (1980)
State v. Pinkard,
2010 WI 81, 327 Wis.2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592
State v. Popp,
357 Wis.2d 696, 855 N.W.2d 471 (2014)
State v. Ultsch,
2010 WI App, 17, 331 Wis.2d 242, 793 N.W.2d 505 10-12
<u>State v. Vick,</u> 104 Wis.2d 678, 312 N.W.2d 489 (1981)
104 Wis.2d 678, 312 N.W.2d 489 (1981)
Welsh v. Wisconsin,
466 U.S. 740 (1984)
Statistica
Statutes
Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a)
Wis. Stat. § 885.235(3)
W 15. 51dt. 8 005.255(5)
Constitution
Constitution
U.S. Const. amend. IV
Wis. Const. art. I, § 11
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,

ч,

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. WHETHER WHEN DEPUTY SCHUETT ENTERED THE CURTILAGE OF AND THE HOME OF MR. POTOCNIK WITHOUT A SEARCH WARRANT AND WITH NO EVIDENCE A CRIME HAD BEEN COMMITTED, DEPUTY SCHUETT VIOLATED THE U.S. AND WISCONSIN CONSTITUTIONS AND COMMON LAW.

The trial court answered: No.

II. WHETHER WHEN DEPUTY SCHUETT SEIZED MR. POTOCNIK'S BLOOD WITHOUT A SEARCH WARRANT, DEPUTY SCHUETT VIOLATED THE U.S. AND WISCONSIN CONSTITUTIONS AND COMMON LAW.

The trial court answered: No.

STATEMENT OF ORAL ARGUMENT

The defendant-appellant believes that oral argument is unnecessary in this case because the relevant facts are generally uncontroverted and easily gleaned from the record and the law is readily discernible. Oral argument, therefore, would do little to enhance the Court's decision on the merits of the issues.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The defendant-appellant does not expect that the Court's ruling will require explanation, modification, or rejection of existing law or policy and, therefore, defendant-appellant does not believe the Court's ruling merits publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 20, 2017, the State of Wisconsin filed a complaint in the Taylor County Circuit Court charging Mr. Potocnik with operating while intoxicated (2nd Offense), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). (R. 1). On July 6, 2017, Mr. Potocnik pleaded not guilty. (R. 2).

On September 20, 2017, Mr. Potocnik filed a Motion to Suppress Fruits of Search of Defendant's Home. (R.7). On December 1, 2017, Mr. Potocnik filed a Motion to Suppress Warrantless Blood Draw – Fruits of an Illegal Arrest. (R. 8). Accordingly, a motion hearing was held on April 5, 2018. (R. 10; App. 2-39). On June 5, 2018, the State filed a brief with the circuit court. (R. 11). On June 11, 2018, Mr. Potocnik filed a brief with the circuit court. (R. 12). On June 22, 2018, the circuit court filed a written decision denying Mr. Potocnik's motions. (R. 14).

At the April 5, 2018, motion hearing, officer Schuett testified under oath that he was unable to determine the time of vehicle operation. (R. 34 at 15-16; App. 15-16). Given that officer Schuett did not know the time the vehicle was last operated, on September 14, 2018, Mr. Potocnik filed an "automatic admissibility" motion to prohibit the State from making any reference at trial to the blood test since it could not be established that the blood sample was taken within three (3) hours of operation of the vehicle as required by § 885.235(3). (R. 15). At the "automatic admissibility" motion hearing heard on September 18, 2018, the circuit court and State agreed that there was no established time of driving and, thus, the court granted the defendant's motion and indicated that the blood test could not be automatically admitted at the trial. (R. 35 at 4; App. 40).

Following the circuit court's ruling denying Mr. Potocnik's motions to suppress (heard on April 5, 2018), a plea and sentencing hearing was held on January 31, 2019. (R. 18). Mr. Potocnik was found guilty of operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration (2nd Offense). (R. 24). The Judgment of Conviction was entered on February 1, 2019. (R. 24). This is an appeal from a judgement, entered in Taylor County Circuit Court, the Honorable Ann Knox Bauer presiding, in which the Defendant-Appellant, Shannon G. Potocnik, was found guilty of operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration (2nd offense). (R. 24).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At the outset, the State concedes that when officer Schuett entered the curtilage of and the home of Mr. Potocnik, officer Schuett did so without a search warrant and with no evidence a crime had been committed. (R.11 at 2-3). A criminal complaint was filed on June 20, 2017, charging Mr. Potocnik with operating while intoxicated (2nd Offense) (R. 1). According to the police dispatch log, on May 15, 2017, at 1:25 a.m., a passerby (Robert A. Durbin) called to report that he had come upon a truck that was in an accident and there was no one present at the accident scene (R.10; App. 11-12). No citizen observed who the operator of the truck was or the time the truck was last operated (R.34 at 15; App. 15). Officer Anthony Schuett was assigned to the truck accident at approximately 1:28 a.m. (R.34 at 12-13; App. 12-13). Officer Schuett did not observe who last drove the truck or when the truck was last operated (R.34 at 15-16; App. 15-16). When law enforcement arrived at the scene, no attempt was made to ascertain the temperature of the truck engine to determine the time the truck was last operated. We do not know or have a time of vehicle operation (R.34 at 15-16; App. 15-16). There was damage to the truck. However, the passenger side window was intact. (R.34 at 16; App. 16). Also, the windshield was intact. (R.34 at 16; App. 16). In addition, the air bags did not deploy. (R.34 at 16; App. 16). At the scene, there was no blood inside the truck. (R.34 at 16; App. 16). Outside the truck, there was no blood evidence or any evidence that the defendant was injured (R.34 at 16; App. 16). No witness at the scene indicated that the defendant was injured. No private citizen or family member expressed any concern to law enforcement that Mr. Potocnik could have been injured. Officer Schuett testified that he has investigated accidents where there was extensive damage to a vehicle and minor or no physical injury. (R.34 at 14-15; App. 14-15). Officer Schuett testified that he has investigated accidents where there was little or minor damage to a vehicle and serious

physical injuries (R.34 at 14-15; App. 14-15). Prior to leaving the scene of the accident, officer Schuett never called the local hospitals. (R.34 at 17; App. 17).

After investigating the scene and not finding the operator of the truck or knowing who the operator of the truck was or when the truck was last operated, officer Schuett decided to drive approximately 8 miles to Mr. Potocnik's home (R.34 at 17; App. 17). Once at Mr. Potocnik's home, officer Schuett did not observe any blood outside the home or any evidence on the exterior of the home or land that would indicate Mr. Potocnik was injured (R.34 at 17; App. 17). After peering into the lower level windows and opening the entry door, officer Schuett used the porch railing as a ladder and climbed up on the porch railing to peer into a second level window to Mr. Potocnik's home (R.34 at 18-19; App. 18-19). Upon peering into the upper level window, officer Schuett observed Mr. Potocnik was home and was undressed and walking naked in the privacy of his home (R.34 at 19-20; App. 19-20). After peering into Mr. Potocniks's upper level home window and seeing that Mr. Potocnik was home, had undressed himself and was walking naked in the privacy of his home, officer Schuett opened the entry door to the home and made contact with Mr. Potocnik (R.34 at 20; App. 20). Only after officer Schuett opened Mr. Potocnik's door did he hear moaning or yelling. (R.34 at 20; App. 20). Once the officer was inside the home, Mr. Potocnik yelled at officer Schuett several times to leave and told officer Schuett he did not want an ambulance. (R.34 at 21; App. 21).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The questions of whether law enforcement legally entered a home and legally seized a sample of Mr. Potocnik's blood are grounded in constitutional principles. The application of constitutional principles by a trial court to the facts is a question of law to be decided by the reviewing court without deference to the finding of the trial court. <u>State v. Patricia A.P.</u>, 195 Wis. 2nd 855, 862, 537 N.W.2d 47 (Ct. App. 1995).

ARGUMENT

I. LAW ENFORCEMENT ENTERED THE CURTILAGE AND HOME OF MR. POTOCNIK WITHOUT A SEARCH WARRANT AND WITH NO EVIDENCE THAT A CRIME HAD BEEN COMMITTED, CONTRARY TO THE U.S. AND WISCONSIN CONSITUTIONS AND COMMON LAW.

The State concedes that law enforcement entered the curtilage and the defendant's home without a search warrant. (R.11 at 2-3). An attached garage is protected curtilage and peering into the windows of a residence is unconstitutional. <u>Florida v. Jardines</u>, 569 U.S. 1, 133 S.Ct. 1409 (2013), <u>State v. Popp</u>, 357 Wis.2d 696, 713-714, 855 N.W.2d 471, 480 (2014), <u>State v. Davis</u>, 333 Wis.2d 490, 501, 798 N.W.2d 902, 908, (2011). As the United State Supreme Court noted in Jardines:

For me, a simple analogy clinches this case – and does so on privacy as well as property grounds. A stranger comes to the front door of your home carrying a super-high-powered binoculars to peer through your windows, into your home's furthest corners. It doesn't take long (the binoculars are really very fine): In just a couple of minutes, this uncommon behavior allows him to learn details of your life you disclose to no one. Has your "visitor" trespassed on your property, exceeding the license you have granted to members of the public to, say, drop off the mail or distribute campaign flyers? Yes, he has. And has he also invaded your "reasonable expectation of privacy," by nosing into intimacies you sensibly thought protected from disclosure? Yes, of course, he has done that too. Id. 569 U.S. 1, 7, 133 S.Ct. 1409, 1418.

As the Wisconsin Court of Appeals stated in Davis:

As a general matter, it is unacceptable for a member of the public to enter a home's attached garage uninvited. We do not think this premise is subject to reasonable disagreement. This premise is true regardless whether an overhead or entry door is open. Thus, generally, ... an attached garage will never be impliedly open to public, i.e., police entry. <u>Id</u>. 333 Wis.2d 490, 501, 798 N.W.2d 902, 908, (2011).

The State also concedes that at the time law enforcement entered the curtilage and home of Mr.

Potocnik, they could not have obtained a warrant because the State had "...no evidence that a crime had been committed..." (R.11 at 2-3). The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides:

The right of people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized. U.S. Constitution, amendment IV.

The Court declares it "axiomatic that the physical entry of the home is the chief evil against which the wording of the Fourth Amendment is directed." Welsh v. Wisconsin, 466 U.S. 740, 748 (1984). That is, at the "very core [of the Fourth Amendment] stands the right of a man to retreat into his own home and there be free from unreasonable government intrusions." Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 589-90 (1980). A basic principle of the Fourth Amendment law is that any entries, or search and seizures, inside the home without a warrant are presumptively unreasonable. Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 586 (1980). The police bear a heavy burden when trying to establish an urgent need justifying warrantless searches and seizures. See Welsh v. Wisconsin, 466 U.S. 740, 749-50 (1984). The State justifies the warrantless entry to the curtilage and home with one argument. The argument the State puts forth justifying the warrantless entry is the community caretaker exception to the warrant requirement.

Our courts have adopted a three-part test for determining whether a law enforcement officer's conduct is properly within the scope of the community caretaker exception:

(1)...whether a search or seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment has occurred, (2) if so, whether the police were exercising a bona fide community caretaker function; and (3) if so, whether the public interest outweighs the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual such that the community caretaker function was reasonably exercised within the context of a home. State v. Pinkard, 2010 WI 81, P29, 327 Wis.2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592.

In examining the third step, the courts balance the public interest or need that is furthered by the officer's conduct against the degree and nature of the intrusion on the citizen's constitutional interest. The four factors courts consider in this balancing test are as follows:

(1)..the degree of the public interest and the exigency of the situation; (2) the attendant circumstances surrounding the search, including time, location, the degree of overt authority and force displayed; (3) whether an automobile is involved; and (4) the availability, feasibility and effectiveness of alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished. Id., 2010 WI 81 P42.

The burden of proof is on the State. State v. Pinkard, 2010 WI 81, P29, 327 Wis. 2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592. In the present case, the State's community caretaker justification is based on speculation. First, we must speculate that the defendant was the driver of the truck in question. Without a vehicle operator, under the community caretaker function, just who is the State attempting to help? Second, since no one observed the truck being operated and the temperature of the truck engine was not determined, we must speculate about the time of driving. As noted above under number (2) of the court's balancing test, "time" is an important "attendant circumstance". In general, the cases where the courts have found it constitutionally permissible for the police to enter a home under the community caretaker exception to the warrant requirement, someone witnesses the accident/bad driving and, thus, there is an established time of driving. Without a time of operation of the truck in question, the required exigency factor to a community caretaker argument becomes stale or mute. From the record at hand, we do not know and cannot ascertain how much time passed from the accident occurring to the accident being noticed. Taylor county is a very rural county, with some roads that are infrequently traveled. We do not know when, prior to the accident, law enforcement last traversed the road the accident occurred on: was it a month prior, a week prior, days prior? With the record at hand, all conclusion with regard to "time" is speculation. One can speculate

in favor of Mr. Potocnik and one can speculate in favor of the State, but the State does not meet its burden via speculation. Third, there being no blood at the scene or any other physical evidence of bodily injury (i.e., human hair, torn cloth, lost shoe..., etc), the State speculates that, based on how the truck was damaged, the defendant must have been injured. However, we know that the force of the impact was not sufficient to deploy the air bags. In addition, we know the windshield was still intact. Further, we know the passenger side window was still intact. From this evidence, it is more logical to assume the operator was not injured. Moreover, officer Schuett testified that damage to a vehicle is not an accurate gauge to determine bodily injury. Officer Schuett testified he has investigated accidents with minor damage to a vehicle and serious physical injuries. Officer Schuett testified that he has investigated accidents where there was extensive damage to a vehicle and no physical injuries. At this point, before leaving the scene, a rational next step would be for officer Schuett (or dispatch) to make a telephone call to Mr. Potocnik's house in an effort to determine whether Mr. Potocnik knew who was driving the truck and whether Mr. Potocnik knew when the truck was last operated. Law enforcement never attempted to telephone Mr. Potocnik.

In addition, as noted above under number (2) of the court's balancing test, "location" is another important "attendant circumstance". In general, the cases where the courts have found it constitutionally permissible for the police to enter a home under the community caretaker exception to the warrant requirement, there is a damaged vehicle parked in the general location of the home which is subsequently searched: location wise, the vehicle is either in the driveway or parked next to the house/garage. In <u>State v. Ultsch</u>, 331 Wis.2d 242, 254 (2011), the driver of a Dodge Durango hit a building and drove home. In <u>Ultsch</u>, the Durango hit the building hard enough to cause the building's brick wall to cave in and cause structural damage to the building. The Durango was found in a long private driveway, two miles from the home that

was subsequently searched. The Court of Appeals in <u>Ultsch</u> found the search of the home unconstitutional. Absent in the present case is any proximity of the damaged vehicle to Mr. Potocnik's house. In the present case, the location of the damaged truck is eight miles from Mr. Potocnik's home. Further, in the present case, officer Schuett driving approximately 8 miles to Mr. Potocnik's home is in itself inconsistent with Mr. Potocnik being injured. Arguably, the further a person is located from the scene of the accident, the less likely that person received serious injury. How would the driver of the truck come to be 8 miles from an accident site? Answer: (1) either the driver was transported by vehicle 8 miles from the accident or (2) the driver walked 8 miles from the accident. In the first scenario, it is logical to assume that if the driver was transported home, an assessment was made that the driver did not need medical aid. In the second scenario, the driver was healthy enough to walk 8 miles. Is it not more logical to assume that a person who has traversed 8 miles from the scene of an accident and has arrived home and is inside his home made it home safely?

Even if one assumes, for the sake of argument, that a community caretaker argument exists, the community caretaker argument fails once we learn that the officer entered the home after seeing the defendant was home walking upright in his home. Once the officer uses the outside porch railing as a ladder to peer in the upper level window and sees the defendant walking naked in the privacy of his own home, the officer knows the defendant is home safe and well. How does the officer know the defendant is home safe? The officer sees this and the reasons are several: (1) there is no blood or external evidence of injury on the house or land, (2) the defendant is home and was well enough to walk upstairs, (3) the defendant is home and well enough to take his clothes off (undress himself), (4) the defendant is walking upright in his home and (5) the officer views the defendant's naked body and does not observe any blood or injuries on the defendant's naked body. Once the officer sees the defendant is home, has

walked upstairs, has undressed himself, that he is walking upright in his own home and that he has no blood or injuries on his naked body, under the community caretaker argument there was no need for the officer to make further contact with the defendant and no need to open the defendant's house door. Only after officer Schuett opened Mr. Potocnik's door did he hear moaning or yelling. (R.34 at 20; App. 20). Thus, any attempt by the State to create a "moaning" argument for entry to the home is mistaken. Further, any "moaning" argument is negated by the above referenced physical evidence. That Mr. Potocnik was yelling at the officer to leave and not moaning is supported by the fact the officer was looking in the house window at Mr. Potocnik's naked body: people do not moan in such a situation, they yell. Yelling is further supported by the fact that, once the officer was inside, Mr. Potocnik yelled at the officer several times to leave and told the officer he did not want an ambulance. (R.34 at 21; App. 21). It is difficult to imagine a scenario with a greater invasion of privacy than a stranger peering through an upper window viewing another walking naked in the privacy of their home. As the court of appeal said in State v. Ultsch, 331 Wis.2d 242, 254 (2011), the community caretaker exception fails in this case because "the public's interest in the intrusion was minimal, at best, and did not outweigh the substantial intrusion on [Mr. Potocnik's] privacy."

II. LAW ENFORCEMENT SEIZED MR. POTOCNIK'S BLOOD WITHOUT A SEARCH WARRANT AND CONTRARY TO THE U.S. AND WISCONSIN CONSTIUTIONS AND COMMON LAW.

Finally, the State argues that there was exigency in that alcohol in the bloodstream dissipates over time. It is axiomatic that every exigency or emergency must have a starting and ending point. No citizen observed who the operator of the truck was or the time the truck was last operated (R.34 at 15; App. 15). Officer Schuett did not observe who last drove the truck or when the truck was last operated (R.34 at 15-16; App. 15-16). When law enforcement arrived at

the scene, no attempt was made to ascertain the temperature of the truck engine to determine the time the truck was last operated. We do not know or have a time of vehicle operation (R.34 at 15-16; App. 15-16). Further, the State acknowledged it does not know the time of vehicle operation: at the "automatic admissibility" motion hearing heard on September 18, 2018, the circuit court and State agreed that there was no established time of driving and, thus, the court granted the defendant's "automatic admissibility" motion and indicated that the blood test could not be automatically admitted at the trial. (R. 35 at 4; App. 40). Simply put, in this case, since there is no known time of operation of the vehicle in question, we do not have a starting point for any exigency. Any "exigency" is speculation. The burden of proof is on the State. <u>State v.</u> <u>Pinkard</u>, 2010 WI 81, **P**29, 327 Wis. 2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592. The State cannot meet its burden of proof via speculation.

Assuming, for the sake of argument, we knew the time of vehicle operation, the United States Supreme Court indicated: "[w]e hold that in drunk driving investigations, the natural dissipation of alcohol in the bloodstream does not constitute an exigency in every case sufficient to justify conducting a blood test without a warrant." *See Missouri v. McNeely*, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013). Further, as the Wisconsin Court of Appeals stated in <u>State v. Larson</u>, 203 WI App 150, 266 Wis.2d 236, 251, 668 N.W.2d 338, 345:

Arguably, because blood rapidly metabolizes alcohol after a person ceases drinking, an exigent situation may have existed. See <u>State</u> <u>v</u>. <u>Bentley</u>, 92 Wis.2d 860, 864 N.W.2d 153 (Ct.App.1979). Without an immediate blood alcohol test, highly reliable and persuasive evidence facilitating the State's proof of Larson's alleged violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a) would be destroyed. However, as expressed in <u>Welsh</u>, a warrantless home arrest cannot be upheld simply because evidence of Larson's blood alcohol level might have dissipated while the police obtained a warrant. See Welsh, 466 U.S. at 753, 104 S.Ct, 2091.

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