RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN07-01-2019

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT III

Circuit Court Case No. 2017CT000033 Appeal Court Case No. 2019AP000523-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SHANNON G. POTOCNIK, Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR TAYLOR COUNTY, THE HONORABLE ANN KNOX-BAUER, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

KRISTI S. TLUSTY Taylor County District Attorney State Bar No. 1055842

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

Taylor County Courthouse 224 South Second Street Medford, WI 54451 (715) 748-1450 kristi.tlusty@da.wi.gov

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

ARGUMENT

I. Sergeant Schuett's entry into Potocnik's curtilage and residence was permissible under the community caretaker exception to the warrant requirement.

The entry to Potocnik's property was permissible under the community caretaker exception to the warrant requirement. The three-part test utilized to determine whether an officer's conduct appropriately qualifies as a community caretaker exception is articulated in *State v. Pinkard*, 2010 WI 81, 785 N.W.2d 592, 327 Wis.2d 346 as follows:

When a community caretaker function is asserted as the basis for a home entry, the circuit court must determine: (1) whether a search or seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment has occurred; (2) if so, whether the police were exercising a bona fide community caretaker function; and (3) if so, whether the public interest outweighs the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual such that the community caretaker function was reasonably exercised within the context of a home. The State bears the burden of proof. Id. at ¶ 29.

The State concedes that Sergeant Schuett entered Potocnik's curtilage and ultimately his residence without a warrant, so we next examine whether Schuett engaged in a bona fide community caretaker function. In the case before us, Schuett responded to a very violent motor vehicle accident scene and was not able to locate the driver of the automobile. Schuett concluded that the only way the driver would have exited the vehicle is to have been ejected during the accident. The vehicle sustained severe damage and officers diligently searched the surrounding area for the driver. Once determining that Potocnik was the registered owner, Schuett drove to Potocnik's residence to determine if he had

been involved in the accident and whether he needed medical attention. Lights were on inside the residence and Schuett knocked and announced repeatedly, receiving no response. Given the nature of the accident scene, noticing lights on within the residence and not receiving any response from his repeated attempts to knock and announce, he did enter the unlocked garage and did look into a window. Only when he heard an occupant moaning and yelling as if in pain, did Schuett enter the residence and, as he did so, he announced that he was entering to check the occupant's welfare.

The federal and state constitutions do not protect against all searches and seizures, but only "unreasonable searches and seizures." State v. Arias, 2008 WI 84, 311 Wis.2d 358, ¶ 25, 752 N.W.2d 748. Warrantless searches of private residences are per se unreasonable, subject to a few well-delineated exceptions. State v. Faust, 2004 WI 99, ¶ 11, 274 Wis.2d 183, 682 N.W.2d 371. An exception to the warrant requirement is the community caretaker function, when the officer discovers someone who is in need of assistance. Cady v. Dombrowski, 413 U.S. 433, 448, 93 S.Ct. 2523, 37 L.Ed.2d 706 (1973) and State v. Kramer, 2009 WI 14, 315 Wis.2d 414, ¶ 32, 759 N.W.2d 598. "Whether a given community caretaker function will pass muster under the Fourth Amendment so as to permit a warrantless home entry depends on whether the community caretaker function was reasonably exercised under the totality of the circumstances of the incident under review." *Pinkard* at ¶ 20. "A court may consider an officer's subjective intent in evaluating whether the officer was acting as a bona fide community caretaker; however, if the court concludes that the officer has articulated an objectively reasonable basis under the totality of the circumstances for the community caretaker function, he has met the standard of acting as a bona fide community caretaker, . . ." *Pinkard* at ¶ 31, citing *Kramer*.

The defense cites *State v. Davis*, 2011 WI App 74, and *State v. Popp*, 2014 WI App 100, to support its argument that Schuett violated the Fourth Amendment. However, neither of those cases involved law enforcement officers exercising their community caretaker function. In *Davis*, officers were attempting to speak with a suspect in a theft complaint and when they arrived at his trailer they entered a garage through an open overhead door. In *Popp*, officers were at the suspect's residence, peering in windows in response to an anonymous drug complaint. The defense suggests that the State should have obtained a warrant to enter the curtilage or the residence. However, warrants are only issued when there is probable cause to believe that a crime has been committed. At that point of entry, Schuett had no evidence that a crime had been committed and was only worried about the health and welfare of the driver. In *State v. Horngren*, 2000 WI App

177, 238 Wis.2d 347 ¶ 18, 617 N.W.2d 508, the court cautioned against taking a "too-narrow view" of the community care taker function:

Without a warrant, the police are powerless. In the future police will tell such concerned citizens, 'Sorry. We can't help you. We need a warrant and can't get one.'

Schuett engaged in a bona fide community caretaker function. The nature of the accident scene, the reasonable inference that the registered owner had been driving at the time of the accident, and the reasonable inference that the driver had been ejected during the violent crash, supports a rational basis for an officer to continue to look for the driver to check his/her welfare. Schuett testified that he "felt it was our responsibility to make sure that the driver was okay." (R. 34:8). The defense argues that the State's reliance on the community caretaker exception is based purely on speculation. However, the circuit court determined that due to the damage at the accident scene, it was reasonable for Schuett to believe that the driver had been injured and was in need of medical care and that Schuett's entry upon observing Potocnik lying in bed and moaning was reasonable. These findings of facts are not clearly erroneous.

The final step in the caretaker analysis is whether Schuett exercised the bona fide community caretaker function reasonably. This analysis involves a balancing test between the public interest or need that is furthered by the officer's conduct against the degree and nature of the intrusion on the citizen's constitutional interest. *Pinkard* at \P 40. There are four factors to consider when conducting this analysis: "1) the degree of the public interest and the exigency of the situation; 2) the attendant circumstances surrounding the search, including time, location, and degree of overt authority and force displayed; 3) whether an automobile is involved and 4) the availability, feasibility and effectiveness of alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished." *Id.* at \P 42.

The record contains ample evidence to satisfy the public interest and exigency of the entries in this case. It is common sense that individuals who have been ejected during a violent motor vehicle accident sustain serious injuries, often life-threatening. In those situations, time is of the essence to obtain emergency medical attention. "When police cannot ascertain a home occupant's condition and they reasonably conclude that assistance is needed, the public has a substantial interest that police ensure the safety of the occupant." *State v. Matalonis*, 216 WI 7, ¶ 59, 366 Wis.2d 443, 875 N.W.2d 567. Schuett made every possible attempt to determine if there was an injured driver within the residence before he entered.

He knocked and announced multiple times. He didn't just barge in through the front door immediately, but instead progressively attempted minimal intrusions to determine whether his ultimate full entry into the residence was necessary and justified. There were no other alternatives to the type of intrusion that was actually accomplished. There was no basis to seek a warrant. The defendant did not answer the door, so there is no reason to believe that he would answer a telephone call to the residence, either. Because three of the four factors weigh in favor of concluding that the officer reasonably performed his community caretaker function, the third step of the test is satisfied. The circuit court found that Schuett made every possible attempt to determine whether there was an injured driver inside the home and that Schuett took progressive, minimally intrusive steps in order to respond to someone that he reasonably believed needed assistance. Further the court found that it would not have been reasonable for Schuett to have just walked away from the residence without verification as to Potocnik's condition. These findings of fact are not clearly erroneous.

The defense also cited *State v. Ultsch*, 2011 WI App 17, 331 Wis.2d 242, 793 N.W.2d 505, to support its argument that the community caretaker exception does not apply to the case bar However, *Ultsch* is easily distinguishable from the case at bar. In *Ultsch*, officers were called to a vehicle collision involving a Durango and a brick building. The vehicle left the scene and was found at the end of a driveway about two or three miles away. When officers arrived at the vehicle, a vehicle came down the driveway from the residence driven by an individual who identified himself as the owner of the property and he stated that the driver of the damaged vehicle was his girlfriend and that she was in the house, possibly asleep. In that situation, the damage to the vehicle was not close to the same level of damage sustained by the Potocnik vehicle. The *Ultsch* vehicle was still drivable and there was less indication that the driver was injured. Furthermore, the police in *Ultsch* had contact with the owner of the residence and could have asked him either for consent to enter and check on the driver or could have asked more questions about the medical condition of the driver.

Schuett's actions were reasonable under the circumstances. To hold otherwise will have a detrimental effect on how law enforcement officers respond to emergent situations and ultimately upon the health and safety of citizens. Since there was no basis for a search warrant in this situation, the defense is ultimately suggesting that the officer should have just walked away and left Potocnik remain in his residence with potentially life-threatening injuries. If Schuett had walked away and Potocnik had died from his injuries, it is practically certain that Potocnik's family and the public would have been outraged at Schuett's inaction.

II. The warrantless blood draw of Potocnik's blood was permissible under the exigent circumstances exception to the warrant requirement.

An exception to the warrant requirement is the exigent circumstances doctrine, which holds that a warrantless search complies with the Fourth Amendment if the need for a search is urgent and insufficient times to obtain a warrant exists." State v. Tulllberg, 2014 WI 134, 359 Wis.2d 421, ¶ 30, 857 N.W.2d 120. "There are four well-recognized categories of exigent circumstances ... 1) hot pursuit of a suspect, 2) a threat to the safety of the suspect or others, 3) a risk that evidence will be destroyed, and 4) a likelihood that the suspect will flee." State v. Richter, 2000 WI 58, 235 Wis.2d 524, ¶ 29, 612 N.W.2d 29. The burden is on the government to establish that its actions fit into one of the well-recognized exceptions. State v. Phillips, 2009 WI App 179, ¶ 7, 322 Wis.2d 576, 778 N.W.2d 157. The test for determining the existence of exigent circumstances is an objective one. State v. Robinson, 2010 WI 80, 327 Wis.2d 302, ¶ 30, 786 N.W.2d 463. The concern with destruction of evidence in OWI cases is reflected in Wisconsin law, which establishes a three-hour window for the automatic admissibility of blood test evidence. Wis. Stat. § 885.235(1g) After the three hour window, the evidence is only admissible "if expert testimony establishes its probative value and may be given prima facie effect only if the effect is established by expert testimony. Wis. Stat. § 885.235(3). In Missouri v. McNeely, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013), the United States Supreme Court explained that "longer intervals may raise questions about the accuracy of the [blood alcohol concentration] calculation. For that reason, exigent circumstances justifying a warrantless blood sample may arise in the regular course of law enforcement due to delays from the warrant application process." *Id.* at 1563.

It is clear that the defendant created the existent circumstances by leaving the scene of the accident. Schuett was dispatched to the accident scene at approximately 1:28 a.m. and arrived at the hospital at approximately 3:59 a.m., thus at least 2.5 hours had already elapsed from the time of driving. Since it would take much longer than 30 minutes to apply for the search warrant, Schuett's response was reasonable under the circumstances. Furthermore, since Potocnik was injured, Schuett did not know whether Potocnik would be available if a search warrant was obtained, i.e. he was going to be treated for his injuries and could have possibly been transferred to another medical facility. Had the defendant remained at the scene of the accident, there would have been ample time to apply for a warrant, but due to his own actions, he created the exigent circumstances that justify the warrantless blood draw in this case.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons explained above, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirm the order denying the motions to suppress and affirm the judgment convicting Potocnik of operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration, as a second offense.